Washington University in St. Louis

Washington University Open Scholarship

Arts & Sciences Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Arts & Sciences

Summer 8-15-2019

Executive Abilities and Academic Achievement in Children with Sickle Cell Disease

Erika Wesonga Washington University in St. Louis

Follow this and additional works at: https://openscholarship.wustl.edu/art_sci_etds

Part of the Cognitive Psychology Commons, Developmental Psychology Commons, and the Medicine and Health Sciences Commons

Recommended Citation

Wesonga, Erika, "Executive Abilities and Academic Achievement in Children with Sickle Cell Disease" (2019). *Arts & Sciences Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 1961. https://openscholarship.wustl.edu/art_sci_etds/1961

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Arts & Sciences at Washington University Open Scholarship. It has been accepted for inclusion in Arts & Sciences Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Washington University Open Scholarship. For more information, please contact digital@wumail.wustl.edu.

WASHINGTON UNIVERSITY IN ST. LOUIS

Department of Psychological and Brain Sciences

Dissertation Examination Committee: Desiree White, Chair Jan Duchek Sandra Hale Allison King Lori Markson

Executive Abilities and Academic Achievement in Children with Sickle Cell Disease by Erika Mayfield Wesonga

> A dissertation presented to The Graduate School of Washington University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> > August 2019 St. Louis, Missouri

© 2019, Erika Wesonga

Table of Contents

List of Tablesiii
Acknowledgementsiv
Abstractv
1. Background1
1.1 Cognition in SCD
1.2 Executive Abilities in SCD4
1.3 Academic Achievement in SCD7
1.4 Rationale for Current Study9
1.5 Specific Aims
2. Methods15
2.1 Participants15
2.2 Procedure
2.3 Study Measures
2.4 Statistical Analyses20
3. Results
4. Discussion
References

List of Tables

Table 1:	Baseline summary statistics and results from one-sample t-tests comparing IQ, executive performance, executive
	behavior, and academic achievement scores from children with SCD
Table 2:	Correlations between executive performance and executive behavior25
Table 3:	Results from linear regressions for Aim 2 assessing relationships among baseline executive performance, executive behavior, and reading and math achievement
Table 4:	Results from linear regressions for Aim 3 assessing relationships among executive performance, executive behavior, and reading and math achievement
Table 5:	Results from repeated measures t-tests comparing baseline and follow-up executive performance, executive behavior, and academic achievement

Acknowledgments

I would first like to thank my advisor, Dr. Desiree A. White, for her support and encouragement throughout this study and my graduate career. I also wish to thank the other members of my dissertation committee and the Developmental Neuropsychology Lab at Washington University for their guidance and support. This research was supported by grants provided by the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (K23HL079073) and the National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke (U01NS042804). Support was also provided by the Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities Research Center at Washington University with funding from the National Institute of Child Health and Human Development (P30HD062171). I also wish to thank the Chancellor's Graduate Fellowship Program (CGFP) for their academic and financial support. Finally, I extend gratitude to the patients and families of the Pediatric Sickle Cell Disease Program at St. Louis Children's Hospital, without whom this study would not be possible.

Erika Wesonga

Washington University in St. Louis August 2019

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

Executive Abilities and Academic Achievement in Children with Sickle Cell Disease

by

Erika Mayfield Wesonga

Doctor of Philosophy in Psychological and Brain Sciences Washington University in St. Louis, 2019 Professor Desiree White, Chair

Academic achievement is crucial to a child's psychosocial and occupational success (Davaoudzadeh et al., 2015; Margari et al., 2013). In children with sickle cell disease (SCD), a genetic disorder resulting in abnormal hemoglobin and significant neurologic sequelae, poor academic achievement is common (Wang et al., 2001). Studies of typically-developing children have revealed links between academic achievement and neuropsychological abilities, particularly higher order executive abilities that are mediated primarily by frontal brain regions (Altemeier et al., 2006; Bull & Scerri, 2001). In children with SCD, there is a wealth of evidence that executive abilities are impaired (Berkelhammer et al., 2007), but very little research has been conducted in which academic achievement has been examined within the context of specific cognitive domains, including executive abilities. The present study was designed to investigate relationships among executive performance (assessed using a composite of performance-based measures), executive behavior in daily life (assessed using parent ratings), and academic achievement (assessed using performance-based measures) in children with SCD. Existing data collected during a longitudinal study (baseline and 2-year follow-up) of 38 children with SCD were examined. Results indicate a significant, positive relationship between baseline executive

performance and executive behavior, and these two measures were simultaneously associated with concurrent academic achievement. Of note, executive performance did not explain variance in academic achievement above and beyond executive behavior, but executive behavior did predict unique variance. However, neither baseline executive performance nor baseline executive behavior predicted follow-up academic achievement. Our findings suggest that measures of executive behavior should not be overlooked in the context of pediatric SCD, and that additional investigation of potential screening tools for academic outcomes in this population is warranted.

1. Background

Sickle cell disease (SCD) refers to a group of hereditary blood disorders that are associated with chronic morbidity and increased mortality. With over 90,000 affected individuals in the US alone, SCD is one of the most common monogenic disorders worldwide (Brousseau et al., 2010; Weatherall et al., 2005). SCD typically occurs in individuals of African descent, but it also presents in individuals of Hispanic, Mediterranean, and Indian descent (Bou-Maroun, 2017; Hassell, 2010). Newborn screening for SCD gained federal support in the 1970s and became increasingly common across US hospitals in the decades that followed (National Sickle Cell Anemia Control Act, 1972; Newborn Screening Committee, Council of Regional Networks for Genetics Services, 1998). Despite early detection and intervention, SCD remains associated with significant health and economic costs. Notably, the life expectancy of individuals with this complex disease is greatly reduced, with one investigation of individuals with the most severe form of the disease (i.e., Hb SS) reporting a median age of death of 42 years for men and 48 years for women, which is approximately 25 to 30 years younger than expected in the general African-American population (Platt et al., 1994). National healthcare surveys indicate that complications arising from pediatric SCD contribute to at least 75,000 hospitalizations per year, with annual costs rising from \$500 million to over \$900 million over the past 20 years (Bou-Maroun, 2017; Davis et al., 1997).

From a genetic perspective, SCD arises from a substitution of the amino acid valine for glutamic acid at the sixth position of the beta-globin gene, which codes for a protein that contributes to the formation of hemoglobin (Ashley-Koch et al., 2000). This genetic variant is known as sickle hemoglobin (*Hb S*). More than 100 million individuals worldwide are carriers of this sickle cell

trait (American Society of Hematology, 2012), possessing one copy of the sickle hemoglobin variant and one copy of the normal beta-globin gene (*Hb AS*). SCD is expressed in individuals who possess either the autosomal recessive variant known as sickle cell anemia (*Hb SS*) or heterozygous combinations of sickle hemoglobin and other beta-globin variants, such as C-type (*Hb SC*), beta-zero thalassemia (*Hb Sβ*⁰), or beta-plus thalassemia (*Hb Sβ*⁺).

Regardless of specific genetic variations, all phenotypes of SCD are characterized by the production of abnormal hemoglobin. Hemoglobin within red blood cells transports oxygen to the organs of the body. In individuals with SCD, the release of oxygen causes hemoglobin molecules to form long tubules and, in turn, red blood cells become abnormally sickled in shape (Ashley-Koch et al., 2000). These sickled blood cells are rigid and more prone to hemolysis, which causes chronic anemia (Sickle Cell Disease Guideline Panel, 1993). Sickled cells are also susceptible to adherence to blood vessel walls, leading to occlusion of the microvasculature (Sickle Cell Disease Guideline Panel, 1993). These vaso-occlusions are the hallmark complication of SCD, contributing to a wide array of medical sequelae, including acute episodes of pain and fatigue (Fosdal, 2015), chronic pain and anemia (Mousa & Qari, 2010), and organ and tissue damage resulting from reductions in blood flow and oxygen saturation (Serjeant, 1993). Children with the most common SCD genotype, *Hb SS*, experience more frequent and severe symptoms than children with other SCD variants, such as *Hb Sβ*⁺ or *Hb SC* (Austin et al., 2007).

Importantly, reduced blood flow and oxygen saturation have the greatest impact on major organs, including the brain. Cerebrovascular accident (CVA) is one of the most common causes of mortality and morbidity in children with SCD (Serjeant, 1993) and includes ischemic stroke,

hemorrhagic stroke, and transient ischemic attack. In SCD, CVA most often occurs within the distribution of the anterior cerebral artery or the anterior distribution of the middle cerebral artery, including the white matter of the frontal lobes (Buchanan et al., 2004; Moser et al., 1996; Prengler et al, 2002; Serjeant, 1993). When clinically-apparent neurologic symptoms (e.g., motor or language abnormalities) of CVA are detected, the event is referred to as "overt stroke." In a longitudinal study of a cohort of over 4,000 children with SCD, 6% of children experienced overt stroke (Ohene-Frempong et al., 1998). However, neuroimaging studies have indicated that most CVAs in children with SCD are not accompanied by overt neurological symptoms, a phenomenon that has been termed "silent stroke" (Kral et al., 2001). Silent stroke, as typically detected by magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), occurs in an estimated 21% of children with *Hb SS* or *Hb S* β^0 and 6 to 8% of children with *Hb SC* (Pegelow et al., 2002; Wang et al., 2001). Critically, cognitive impairment has been associated with the presence of silent stroke (Christ et al., 2007) and abnormal cerebral blood flow (Kral & Brown, 2001) in children with SCD, which will be explored in detail in the following sections.

1.1 Cognition in SCD

Given the neurologic sequelae, it is perhaps unsurprising that cognition is compromised in children with SCD. Poorer performance on cognitive tasks has been associated with the presence of CVA, but it is important to note that even children with normal-appearing neuroimaging experience cognitive impairment (Schatz et al., 2002; Schatz & McClellan, 2006; Steen et al, 2003). At the broadest level, SCD has been associated with deficits in general intellectual ability, as quantified by the intelligence quotient (IQ; mean = 100, SD = 15 in the general population) (Swift et al., 1989; Wang et al., 2001). Individuals with recent overt stroke experience a loss of

up to 14 to 17 IQ points (Hijmans, Fiijnnvanndraat et al., 2011; Rennie & Panepinto, 2008), whereas losses of 5 to 14 IQ points have been observed in children with normal-appearing MRI or silent stroke (Berkelhammer et al., 2007; Kral et al., 2001). Steen and colleagues (2005) compared the IQ of children with SCD (ages 6 to 18 years) to that of African-American controls from the Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children-III (WISC-III) normative sample and found that children with SCD who had normal-appearing MRI scored approximately 13 IQ points lower; moreover, the IQ of the SCD group significantly decreased as a function of increasing age, likely reflecting the chronic morbidity of the disease.

Impairments have been also observed in specific cognitive domains, including visuospatial abilities (Grueneich et al., 2004; Schatz et al, 2009), memory (Wasserman et al., 1991), and language (Brown et al., 2000). Although researchers have posited several potential contributing factors to account for these findings, including anemia, ischemia, and sleep disordered breathing (e.g., Hijmans, Grootenhuis, et al., 2011; Hollocks et al., 2012; Köbel et al., 2017), the precise mechanisms underlying cognitive impairment in SCD remain unclear. However, of particular relevance to this study are impairments in executive abilities, which will be discussed in the next section.

1.2 Executive Abilities in SCD

The term *executive abilities* refers to higher-order cognitive abilities that are largely mediated by frontal brain regions, including working memory, inhibition, and set shifting. These abilities provide coordination and integration of other aspects of cognitive and behavioral performance (Anderson, 2002; Diamond, 2013). Attention, another area of cognition that is at least partially mediated by the frontal lobes, is highly correlated with executive abilities in children (Friedman

et al., 2007) and, as such, will be categorized with executive abilities in the current study. Longitudinal studies of typically developing children have shown that some aspects of executive abilities, such as working memory, emerge during preschool years and continue to develop throughout adolescence and into young adulthood (Best & Miller, 2010; Huizinga et al., 2006). Other skills, including inhibition and shifting, demonstrate rapid growth during early childhood and increasingly slowed growth during late childhood and adolescence (see Romine & Reynolds, 2005 for a meta-analysis).

Children with SCD generally demonstrate impairments in executive abilities, with the strongest evidence for impairments in working memory, inhibition, and sustained attention (Berkelhamer et al., 2007). First turning to working memory, results are generally indicative of impairment but are somewhat mixed depending on the nature of the task administered to assess working memory. For example, results from a Dutch study of 41 children with SCD and mixed neurologic history (overt stroke = 3) indicated that working memory performance assessed using a visuospatial n-back task was impaired compared with that of typically-developing controls, whereas working memory performance assessed using a verbal digit span task was intact (Hijmans et al., 2011). In addition, findings from working memory tasks across SCD subgroups point to heterogeneity in the degree to which executive abilities are impaired. For example, using a visuospatial working memory task, Schatz and Roberts (2007) showed that toddlers with SCD and no history of overt stroke who had more severe SCD (Hb SS) made significantly more errors than their peers with less severe SCD (Hb SC). In an older sample of children with SCD, Brandling-Bennett et al. (2003) examined working memory in 31 participants, including 10 children with CVA affecting frontal brain regions as evidenced by MRI, and 21 children with normal-appearing MRI and no history of overt stroke. They found that both groups performed

comparably on a relatively simple working memory task (i.e., digit span forward), but the CVA group performed more poorly on a slightly more complex working memory task (i.e., digit span backward), suggesting difficulty in manipulating but not storing information for the CVA group.

Results from studies investigating inhibition and sustained attention have been more mixed. In the aforementioned Dutch study (Hijmans et al., 2011), a stop task assessing inhibition showed that SCD and control groups performed comparably in terms of reaction time and accuracy. In contrast, an investigation of inhibition that used a similar method of group classification to that of Brandling-Bennett et al. (2003) demonstrated that children with SCD who had neuroimaging evidence of CVA affecting frontal brain regions made more errors on an inhibitory control task than children with SCD and normal-appearing MRI (Christ et al., 2007). Interestingly, group differences in error rate on this task appeared to be driven by CVA status but not differences in SCD genotype, as children with *Hb SS* in the normal-appearing MRI group performed comparably to other normal-appearing MRI participants but worse than children with *Hb SS* in the CVA group. In addition, a study of sustained attention showed that children with SCD with no history of overt stroke made significantly fewer correct responses on a computerized vigilance task than sibling controls (Brown et al., 1993).

Overall, empirical studies of cognition in children with SCD provide mixed evidence, but findings are generally indicative of impairment in executive abilities (Berkelhamer et al., 2007). Factors contributing to the inconsistency across results most likely include task heterogeneity and samples with mixed history of CVA. Furthermore, the developmental trajectories of executive abilities in SCD are poorly understood. Given these limitations, additional research regarding the role of executive abilities in children with SCD is warranted.

1.3 Academic Achievement in SCD

Coupled with impairments in cognition in children with SCD are difficulties in academic achievement, which are commonly assessed using standardized measures such as the Woodcock-Johnson Tests of Achievement (WJ) or the Wide Range Achievement Test (WRAT). In general, children with SCD tend to score more poorly on tests of basic reading and math skills (e.g., word and phoneme decoding, one-step math calculations) than typically-developing or sibling controls (Armstrong et al., 1996; Fowler et al., 1988; Schatz et al., 2001). Among subgroups of children with SCD, the presence of overt and silent stroke is associated with particularly poorer achievement scores (Armstrong et al., 1996; Cohen et al., 1994; Schatz et al., 2001).

Although academic achievement generally improves with age in typically-developing children (Williamson et al., 1991), evidence from a large longitudinal study of school-age children with SCD (the Cooperative Study of Sickle Cell Disease) indicated that the developmental trajectory of academic achievement is negatively affected. Wang et al. (2001) found that children with *Hb SS* and normal-appearing MRI (n = 170) experienced a loss of 0.9 standard points in math achievement and 0.5 verbal IQ points each year over a 10-year time span. While children with *Hb SS* and silent stroke scored approximately 9 to 10 standard points poorer on reading and math achievement tests at baseline than children with *Hb SS* who had normal-appearing MRI, the rate of change in IQ and achievement did not significantly vary between these two subgroups. Agerelated changes in reading achievement were not observed despite changes in verbal IQ, which may reflect an uncoupling of the association between IQ and reading abilities observed in other longitudinal studies of poor readers (Ferrer et al., 2010). Other studies of children with *Hb SS* have since replicated findings of age-related declines in IQ (e.g. Steen et al., 2005), but trajectories of academic achievement within SCD have not been as thoroughly investigated.

Importantly, poor academic achievement has been associated with other poor academic outcomes for individuals with SCD (Ladd et al., 2014; Schatz et al., 2001; Schatz, 2004). Although children with SCD utilize special education services more than their peers, they continue to experience higher rates of grade retention and school attrition (Dyson et al., 2010; Epping et al., 2013; Fowler et al., 1985; Schatz et al., 2001). In a retrospective review of medical and school records from 197 African-American children who received care for SCD at a midwestern clinic, 24% were retained at least 1 grade in their lifetime, and 34% received special education services (Epping et al., 2013). These percentages were significantly higher than normative rates for national, state, and local African-American students. In addition, it was found that silent stroke was related to grade retention within their sample, and both overt and silent stroke were related to receipt of special education services (Epping et al., 2013).

Risk for poor academic outcomes in children with SCD is likely increased by interactions with psychosocial and environmental factors. Many children with SCD are from lower socioeconomic status (SES) backgrounds (King et al., 2014), and the negative effects of low SES and financial stress on academic achievement and other academic outcomes in SCD have been well documented (Fowler et al., 1988; King et al., 2014; Ladd et al., 2014; Schatz, 2004; Yarboi et al., 2015). Children with SCD also tend to attend schools with limited resources (Radcliffe et al., 2006), which may complicate implementation of appropriate academic interventions. They also experience higher rates of absenteeism, with an average of 20 to 40 missed school days per year (Ogunfowora et al., 2005; Peterson et al., 2005; Shapiro et al., 1995). The negative impact of these factors on academic outcomes is indisputable, but much more research is needed to

identify contributing intermediary mechanisms that contribute to poor academic achievement and academic outcomes in individuals with SCD.

1.4 Rationale for Current Study

Little research has been conducted in individuals with SCD regarding the relationship between academic achievement and performance in specific cognitive domains, although poorer academic achievement in SCD has been correlated with poorer general intellectual ability (Swift et al., 1989; Wang et al., 2001). Schatz et al. (2004) examined general intellectual ability, as measured by composite scores from 6 tests selected to represent the Gf-Gc model of cognition (McGrew & Flanagan, 1998), in 70 children with SCD who had no history of stroke based on neurologic examination. Results showed that general intellectual ability was associated with academic achievement, whereas disease-related risk factors such as days of illness and anemia severity were not.

In typically-developing children, executive abilities assessed using performance-based measures (i.e., *executive performance*) have been implicated as critical for academic success. Both reading and math achievement have been associated with performance on laboratory tasks assessing inhibition (Altemeier et al., 2008; Swanson, 1999), set shifting (Altemeier et al., 2008; deJong, 1998), working memory (Bull & Scerif, 2001; Espy et al., 2004; McLean & Hitch, 1999; Siegel & Ryan, 1989), and attention (Christopher et al., 2012; Claessens & Dowsett, 2014; St. Clair-Thompson & Gathercole, 2006) in children and adolescents. Moreover, greater activation of frontal brain regions that support executive performance has been associated with the development of reading and math abilities (Ashkenazi et al., 2013; Schlaggar et al., 2002; Semrud-Clikeman, 2005). Executive performance has also been identified as a partial mediator

between SES and math achievement in typically-developing children (Lawson & Farah, 2017), suggesting that executive abilities may play an especially important role in an economically diverse population such as SCD.

Executive abilities in daily life (i.e., executive behavior), typically assessed using behavior rating questionnaires completed by parents or teachers, have also been shown to predict academic achievement in typically-developing children (Samuels et al., 2016; Toll et al., 2010). Examples of executive behavior in children include planning ahead for assignments, avoiding careless errors on schoolwork, refraining from impulsive outbursts, and flexibly moving from one activity to another. Although executive behavior is studied less frequently in children with SCD, existing evidence indicates that parents and teachers rate executive behavior in children with SCD as worse than in healthy peers (Berg et al., 2012), and among children with SCD, executive behavior is associated with cerebral blood flow velocity, a marker of stroke risk (Kral & Brown, 2004; Kral et al., 2003). Administration of questionnaires that assess executive behavior generally requires less time and resources to administer than performance-based measures, and thus may be especially practical in the context of a medical clinic given concerns with patient fatigue and time constraints. In addition, some researchers have suggested that executive behavior ratings may better capture the complex, integrative nature of executive abilities and be of greater ecological validity than performance-based measures (Waber et al., 2006). For these reasons, it has been recommended that measures of executive behavior be included alongside measures of executive performance as part of a typical neuropsychological battery for pediatric SCD care in both comprehensive and brief follow-up examinations (Daly et al., 2011).

Several studies of typically developing children have investigated relationships between ratings on one popular measure of executive behavior, the Behavior Rating Inventory of Executive Function (BRIEF; Gioia et al., 2000), and academic achievement, although results have been mixed (e.g., Clark et al., 2010; Locascio et al., 2010). Lack of convergence may reflect the use of different types of behavioral raters across studies (i.e. self, parent, or teacher), as well as a focus on different domains of academic achievement. For example, Dekker et al. (2017) examined the relationship between parent and teacher ratings on the BRIEF, scores from performance-based tasks assessing executive abilities, and scores from math and spelling achievement tests in first and second grade students. Teacher ratings of working memory and shifting explained variance in spelling scores above and beyond scores from performance-based tasks assessing executive abilities; teacher ratings, however, did not explain variance in math scores, and parent ratings explained variance in neither spelling nor math scores. In contrast, Ten Eycke and Dewey (2016) examined parent ratings on the BRIEF in relation to executive performance and academic achievement in a sample of 405 healthy children (aged 5 to 18 years) with heterogeneous motor, attentional, and academic skills. Results revealed that reading and math scores were significantly associated with both BRIEF parent ratings and scores from performance-based executive measures. Measures of executive behavior also appear to be associated with academic outcomes other than achievement. For example, in a 4-year longitudinal study conducted with middleschoolers, BRIEF teacher ratings predicted both current and annual grade point averages in humanities, math, and science above and beyond individualized education plan (IEP) and free lunch (a marker of SES) status (Samuels et al., 2016).

While it appears that executive performance and executive behavior may both relate to academic achievement, evidence suggests that executive performance and executive behavior likely reflect different aspects of the executive abilities construct. This notion is partially supported by Faradi et al. (2014), which reported evidence of distinct neuroanatomical correlates of BRIEF working memory scores (associated with cortical thickness of posterior parahippocampal gyrus) and performance-based measures of working memory (associated with hippocampus and amygdala volumes). Additionally, a meta-analysis of 20 studies investigating executive abilities in children and adults showed that less than 25% of the correlations examined between scores from performance-based executive tasks and ratings of executive behavior were statistically significant (Toplak et al., 2013). Of the original 20 studies, 13 specifically compared BRIEF ratings with performance-based executive scores in children or young adults (including clinical and nonclinical samples), and only 19 % of the 182 correlations examined in this subset of studies were statistically significant. It should be noted that many of the reported correlations in this subset were between BRIEF indices (which average across subscales and theoretical constructs) and individual scores from specific performance-based tasks; thus, it is possible that examining BRIEF indices in relation to a composite measure of executive performance (that averages across tasks and theoretical constructs) may yield different results. Toplak and colleagues (2013) have suggested that the two types of measures may assess distinct levels of cognitive analysis, an algorithmic level and a reflective level. Specifically, performance-based measures may better assess the efficiency with which we process information (algorithmic level), while behavioral rating scales may better assess our success with goal and decision making (reflective level). Given the high complexity of completing an academic task (e.g., reading a passage, solving a math problem), it is conceivable that both levels of cognitive analysis, and thus measures of both executive performance and executive behavior, may relate to success with an academic task in children with SCD.

1.5 Specific Aims

The present study was designed to investigate relationships among *executive performance* (assessed using performance-based measures), *executive behavior* in daily life (assessed using parent ratings), and *academic achievement*, (specifically *reading and math achievement*, assessed using performance-based measures) in children with SCD. Existing data collected during a longitudinal study (baseline and 2-year follow-up) were examined, with the ultimate goal of identifying measures to screen for risk of poor academic outcomes. Overall, identifying both early predictors of academic achievement and screening measures of academic risk will facilitate recommendations for in-depth cognitive evaluations and interventions in educational settings to increase the likelihood that children with SCD reach their full academic potential. The specific aims and hypotheses of the current study are as follow:

Aim 1: To determine the relationship between executive performance and executive behavior in children with SCD. We hypothesize that baseline executive performance will be significantly and positively associated with baseline executive behavior in children with SCD when both aspects of executive abilities are analyzed at the composite level.

Aim 2: To determine the relationship between executive performance, executive behavior, and reading and math achievement in children with SCD. We hypothesize that baseline executive performance and baseline executive behavior will be significantly associated with baseline reading and math achievement in children with SCD.

Aim 3: To determine whether executive performance predicts reading and math achievement above and beyond executive behavior in children with SCD. We hypothesize that both baseline executive performance and baseline executive behavior will be unique predictors of follow-up academic achievement. Given the author's interest in the potential utility of cost-effective evaluations within a clinic setting, the primary question was whether more costly measures (i.e. performance-based measures) provide unique information regarding academic outcomes above and beyond less costly measures (i.e. parent rating scales). We hypothesize that baseline executive performance will significantly predict academic achievement at baseline and follow-up above and beyond baseline executive behavior, consistent with the notion that the different types of executive measures quantify slightly different aspects of functioning.

Aim 4: To determine whether executive performance, executive behavior, and academic achievement remain stable over time in children with SCD. We hypothesize that executive performance and executive behavior will remain stable over time at the mean level, when assessed across middle childhood and early to mid-adolescence. Given evidence from a relatively large, longitudinal study of SCD (Wang et al., 2001), we hypothesize that math achievement but not reading achievement will decrease over time.

2. Methods

2.1 Participants

Data from children with SCD were collected at Washington University in St. Louis between 2006 and 2012 as part of a longitudinal study of neuropsychological performance in children with SCD. Although 65 children were initially considered for inclusion in the study, 27 were excluded due to lack of baseline executive performance data. Thus, the final sample included 38 children aged 7 to 16 years (M = 11.8, SD = 2.8), with grade levels ranging from kindergarten to 11th grade (M = 5.6, SD = 3.0). At the time of enrollment, all children were followed by the Pediatric Sickle Cell Disease Program in the Division of Pediatric Hematology and Oncology. No child had a reported history of a vascular disorder unrelated to SCD (e.g., congenital heart defect). Nearly half of our participants were diagnosed with the most severe and common variant of SCD, *Hb SS* (n = 18; 47.4%); other genetic variants were *Hb SC* (n = 12; 31.6%), *Hb Sβ*⁰ (n = 7; 18.4%), and *Hb Sβ*⁺ (n = 1; 2.6%). Medical records, including MRI results evaluated by a neuroradiologist, indicated that 94.7% of children had normal-appearing MRI, with 5.3% having evidence of past silent stroke. Mean number of hospitalizations in the past year was 1.6 (SD = 2.4).

Additional demographic and educational information were obtained from a parent questionnaire and medical records. Participants included 16 boys and 22 girls whose parents all identified as Black or African-American. At the time of enrollment, 34.2% of the children utilized special education services (IEP or 504 plan, n = 13), and 18.4% had repeated at least one grade in their lifetime (n = 7). History of grade retention and use of special education services were both coded as binary variables (0 = no, 1 = yes) for the purpose of this study.

2.2 Procedure

The Institutional Review Board of Washington University in St. Louis approved the study protocol (IRB # 201101836). Consent was obtained from parents or guardians of children, and children's assent was obtained when appropriate. A neuropsychological battery lasting approximately 2.5 hours was then administered to each child by a trained psychometrician or psychology graduate student. Parents completed a behavior rating scale related to their child. All procedures were completed at St. Louis Children's Hospital or the Developmental & Behavioral Assessment Unit of the Washington University Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities Research Center in a private, quiet room. Participants returned for follow-up approximately 2 years later, at which time study procedures were repeated. After each study visit, participants received gift certificates or monetary remuneration.

2.3 Study Measures

2.3.1. General Intellectual Abilities

The Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence, Second Edition (WASI-II) is a standardized measure of general intellectual ability (i.e., IQ). Two subtests from the WASI-II may be used to estimate IQ. Specifically, the Vocabulary subtest is an untimed measure of word knowledge, whereas Matrix Reasoning is an untimed measure of perceptual reasoning. Administration time was approximately 25 minutes. Summary scores from the 2 subtests were used to estimate IQ, the variable of interest. The IQ was reported as a standard score with a mean of 100 and a standard deviation of 15. Although IQ was examined to characterize the general intellectual ability of the sample, it was not included in primary statistical analyses due to empirically-supported concerns regarding methodological issues with controlling for IQ when examining

cognitive outcomes in children with neurodevelopmental disorders (e.g., Dennis et al., 2009). The primary concern was that including IQ as a covariate in statistical models for Aims 2 or 3 would fail to elucidate our primary questions of interest regarding the specific relationships between executive abilities and academic achievement, given the well-established, high degree of association between IQ and academic achievement (Mayes et al., 2009). For the sake of consistency with studies of IQ, cognitive abilities, and academic outcomes in typically developing children (e.g. Bull & Scerif, 2001), secondary analyses were performed which included IQ and other educational variables of interest in the models.

2.3.2. Executive Performance

Subtests from the *Delis-Kaplan Executive Function System* (D-KEFS) and the *Conners' Continuous Performance Test, Second Edition* (CPT-2) were administered to assess executive performance.

Turning first to the D-KEFS, this battery includes a variety of verbal and nonverbal subtests to assess executive abilities across developmental stages. Relevant to the proposed study are variables from the following 3 subtests: *Verbal Fluency Test, Color-Word Interference Test,* and *Trail-Making Test.* The Verbal Fluency Test required that children generate as many words as possible in 1 minute upon hearing stimulus cues. The variable of interest in the current study was *Category Switching Accuracy*, which reflected the total number of words correctly generated when children were asked to switch between 2 semantic categories (fruits, furniture). The Color-Word Interference Test is a modified Stroop task which contains a condition (Condition 3) requiring that children inhibit the automatic reading of words and instead name the ink colors in which words are printed. The best indicator of inhibition from this subtest is the *Inhibition vs*

Color Naming Contrast Score. This variable of interest represented the difference between the time to complete Condition 3 and the time to complete an earlier condition (Condition 1) requiring rapid naming of colored squares. The Trail-Making Test is a timed subtest requiring that children rapidly draw lines connecting numbered and/or lettered dots. We focused on the condition of this subtest (Condition 4) requiring that children switch between connecting numbered and lettered dot sequences. Our variable of interest was the *Trails 4 vs 5 Contrast Score*, which represented the difference between the time to complete Condition 4 and the time to complete a condition (Condition 5) requiring rapid connection of open dots. Combined administration time for these 3 D-KEFS subtests was approximately 25 minutes. All subtests were administered using standard formats, and computer software was used to calculate standard T scores based on normative data, with lower T scores indicating poorer executive performance.

The CPT-2 is a computerized measure of visual, sustained attention. Children were instructed to press a keyboard button when a target stimulus appeared on a computer monitor and withhold the button press when a non-target stimulus appeared. Administration of the CPT-2 occurred using the standard format and required approximately 20 minutes for completion. The variable of interest was *Response Variability*, which is a measure of consistency in response time. Computer software was used to calculate transformed T scores based on normative data, with lower T scores indicative of poorer executive performance.

In statistical analyses, executive performance was reflected by an *Executive Performance Composite* T score, which was an average T score across all main executive performance variables of interest (i.e., CPT Response Variability, Verbal Fluency Test Category Switching Accuracy, Color-Word Interference Test Inhibition vs Color Naming Contrast Score, and the Trail-Making Test Trail 4 vs 5 Contrast Score). The role of individual measures was examined in secondary analyses.

2.3.3. Executive behavior

The *Behavior Rating Inventory of Executive Function* (BRIEF) is a rating scale assessing executive behaviors in daily life. It includes 86 items that comprise 8 clinical scales. Parents were asked to indicate how often their child displayed a given behavior in the past 6 months by endorsing one of three responses: "Never," "Sometimes," or "Often." Administration required approximately 10 minutes. Summary scores from the 8 clinical scales were converted to T scores based on normative data, from which a single *Global Executive Composite* (GEC) was obtained. The GEC was the primary variable of interest, and lower T scores indicated poorer executive behavior.

In secondary analyses, two additional composite scores from the BRIEF were examined. The *Behavior Regulation Index* (BRI) comprises 3 of the clinical scales and reflects set shifting and modulation of behavior and emotions. The *Metacognition Index* (MI) comprises the remaining 5 clinical scales and reflects planning, organization, initiation, and working memory. Like the GEC, both indices are reported as T scores, with lower scores indicating poorer executive behavior.

2.3.4 Academic Achievement

Subtests from the *Woodcock-Johnson Tests of Achievement, Third Edition* (WJ-III) were administered. Relevant to the proposed analyses were the following 4 subtests: *Letter-Word Identification*, a phonemic decoding test; *Reading Fluency*, a timed sentence reading test;

Calculation, a pencil-and-paper test of broad mathematical abilities; and *Math Fluency*, a timed test of simple arithmetic solution. Administration of the 4 subtests required approximately 20 minutes. For each subtest, the total number of correct responses was scored on the basis of agebased normative data, which provides standard T scores (mean = 50, SD = 10) as a component of the WJ-III. A *Reading Achievement Composite* was created by averaging T scores from Letter-Word Identification and Reading Fluency, and a *Math Achievement Composite* was created by averaging T scores from Calculation and Math Fluency. Each composite represented the academic achievement variables of interest in our study, with lower T scores indicating poorer achievement.

2.4 Statistical Analyses

In primary analyses, executive performance was represented by the Executive Performance Composite, executive behavior was represented by the BRIEF GEC, and reading and math achievement were represented by the Reading and Math Achievement Composites. To provide a clinical context for our findings, means and SDs of all composite and individual subtest variables were calculated, and one-sample t-tests were used to compare scores to those of age-matched normative samples from the standardized measures. To increase statistical rigor, findings from ttest, correlation, and regression analyses were considered statistically significant if either p < .01 or p < .05 with medium (e.g., d = 0.50, r = 0.30, or $\Delta R^2 = 0.09$) or large (e.g., d = 0.80, r = 0.50, or $\Delta R^2 = 0.25$) effect size according to Cohen's conventions (1988). Age was not included in statistical analyses because preliminary results revealed no significant interactions with age. Due to our use of age-corrected normative scores, age was not expected to have significant direct effects on scores of executive abilities or academic achievement. Aim 1: To determine the relationship between executive performance and executive behavior in children with SCD. Pearson correlation was used to determine the strength of the relationship between baseline executive performance (i.e., Executive Performance Composite) and baseline executive behavior (i.e., BRIEF GEC). Secondary analyses examining individual executive performance and executive behavior variables were conducted only if executive performance was significantly related to executive behavior.

Aim 2: To determine the relationship between executive performance, executive behavior, and academic achievement in children with SCD. Two linear regression analyses were used to determine the variance in baseline academic achievement (Reading and Math Achievement Composites, examined separately) accounted for by baseline executive performance (i.e. Executive Performance Composite) and baseline executive behavior (i.e., BRIEF GEC), which were entered simultaneously:

Baseline Reading Achievement = (Baseline BRIEF GEC + Baseline Executive Performance Composite)
Baseline Math Achievement = (Baseline BRIEF GEC + Baseline Executive Performance Composite)
Secondary analyses controlled for IQ and educational variables of interest, including utilization of special education services and history of grade retention. Four separate linear regressions (i.e. two models each for baseline reading achievement and baseline math achievement) were performed which included either IQ or both educational variables in the first step of the model, followed by baseline executive performance and baseline executive behavior in the second step.

Aim 3: To determine whether executive performance predicts academic achievement beyond executive behavior in children with SCD. Four hierarchical linear regressions were used to determine the variance in baseline and follow-up academic achievement (i.e., baseline and follow-up Reading and Math Achievement Composites, modeled separately) accounted for by baseline executive performance (i.e., Executive Performance Composite) after accounting for baseline executive behavior (i.e., BRIEF GEC):

Baseline Reading Achievement = Baseline BRIEF GEC + Baseline Executive Performance Composite
Baseline Math Achievement = Baseline BRIEF GEC + Baseline Executive Performance Composite
Follow-up Reading Achievement = Baseline BRIEF GEC + Baseline Executive Performance Composite
Follow-up Math Achievement = Baseline BRIEF GEC + Baseline Executive Performance Composite
Secondary regression analyses examined the variance in baseline and follow-up achievement
predicted by baseline executive behavior after accounting for baseline executive performance.

Aim 4: To determine whether executive performance, executive behavior, and academic achievement remain stable over time in children with SCD. Repeated measures t-tests were used to examine change in executive performance (i.e. baseline and follow-up Executive Performance Composites), executive behavior (i.e., baseline and follow-up BRIEF GECs), and academic achievement (i.e., baseline and follow-up Reading and Math Achievement Composites). Secondary linear regression analyses examined whether baseline executive behavior and executive performance predicted the change in reading and math and achievement over time.

3. Results

First turning to descriptive statistics, Table 1 displays summary statistics for baseline IQ, executive performance, executive behavior, and academic achievement variables, as well as results of one-sample t-tests comparing performance of our SCD sample to that of normative samples. Significantly poorer scores were identified for children with SCD for IQ, the Executive Performance Composite (as well as Trails 4 vs 5 Contrast Score of the Executive Performance Composite), the MI of the BRIEF, and Reading and Math Achievement Composites (as well as Reading and Math Fluency of the Achievement Composites). From a clinical perspective, all scores fell within 1 SD of the normative mean and were within the broad average range, suggesting that observed executive and academic difficulties were relatively mild in this sample. Although not depicted in Table 1, children with more severe SCD genotypes (*Hb SS* and *Hb Sβ*⁰, n = 25) did not significantly differ from children with less severe genotypes (*Hb SC* and *Hb Sβ*⁺, n = 13) in terms of baseline age, IQ, executive performance, executive behavior, or academic achievement.

Table 1: Baseline summary statistics and results from one-sample t-tests comparing IQ,								
executive performance,	executive	behavior,	and	academic	achievement	scores	from	
children with SCD to that	t of normat	tive data.						

	M (SD)	t	d
IQ	93.5 (14.0)	-2.87*	-0.45
Executive Performance Composite	46.8 (6.7)	-3.00*	-0.38
Response Variability	45.6 (11.5)	-2.36	-0.41
Category Switching Accuracy	52.4 (10.5)	1.43	0.24

Inhibition vs Color Naming	47.1 (9.9)	-1.81	-0.29
Trails 4 vs 5	41.9 (12.6)	-3.96*	-0.71
BRIEF GEC	47.1 (9.4)	-1.92	-0.30
BRI	48.5 (10.2)	-0.89	-0.15
MI	46.0 (8.7)	-2.82*	-0.42
Reading Achievement Composite	45.2 (8.7)	-3.41*	-0.51
Letter-Word Identification	46.8 (10.0)	-1.96	-0.32
Reading Fluency	43.6 (8.6)	-4.60*	-0.69
Math Achievement Composite	44.0 (9.0)	-4.08*	-0.63
Calculations	46.7 (10.5)	-1.92	-0.32
Math Fluency	41.6 (9.4)	-5.46*	-0.87

Notes: IQ reported as standard score, with mean = 100, SD = 15; all other scores reported as T scores, with mean = 50, SD = 10; * indicates statistically significant finding (i.e., either p < .01 or p < .05 with medium or large effect size.)

Aim 1: To determine the relationship between executive performance and executive behavior in children with SCD. As predicted, the Pearson correlation coefficient indicated a significant positive relationship (r = 0.41, p < .05) between baseline executive behavior and baseline executive performance as measured by the baseline Executive Performance Composite and the BRIEF GEC, respectively. Pearson correlations from secondary analyses are presented in Table 2. Of the two baseline BRIEF indices, the MI was significantly correlated with the baseline Executive Performance Composite, but the BRI was not. Analyses of the individual baseline executive performance variables revealed that only the Trails 4 vs 5 Contrast Score was significantly correlated with baseline executive behavior, including BRIEF GEC, BRI, and MI.

	Executive	Response	Category	Inhibition	Trails	BRIEF	BRIEF	BRIEF
	Performance	Variability	Switching	vs Color	4 vs 5	GEC	BRI	MI
	Composite		Accuracy	Naming				
Executive								
Performance								
Composite								
Response	0.66*							
Variability								
Category	0.58*	0.24						
Switching								
Accuracy								
Inhibition vs	0.45*	0.19	-0.10					
Color								
Naming								
Trails 4 vs 5	0.67*	0.16	0.27	0.07				
BRIEF GEC	0.41*	0.20	0.14	0.11	0.47*			
BRIEF BRI	0.28	0.03	0.13	0.04	0.43*	0.91*		
BRIEF MI	0.43*	0.32*	0.11	0.13	0.42*	0.89*	0.70*	

Table 2: Correlations between executive performance and executive behavior.

Note: * *indicates statistically significant finding.*

Aim 2: To determine the relationship between executive performance, executive behavior, and reading and math achievement in children with SCD. Results from the linear regressions for Aim 2 are presented in Table 3. Consistent with our hypotheses, baseline executive performance and baseline executive behavior (entered simultaneously) accounted for significant variance in both baseline Reading Achievement (21%) and baseline Math Achievement (31%). Secondary regression analyses controlled for the effect of IQ and educational variables of interest (not shown). When IQ was entered alone into the first step of the model, it significantly accounted for 51% of the variance in reading achievement and 26% in math achievement. When executive performance and executive behavior were then entered simultaneously into the second step of the model, they no longer accounted for a significant proportion of variance in reading achievement. However, they did significantly account for 45% of unique variance in math achievement.

Separate models were used to control for the effect of our educational variables. When history of grade retention and utilization of special education services were entered simultaneously into the first step of the model, they did not account for significant variance in either reading or math achievement. Executive performance and executive behavior were then entered into the second step of the model. Together, they significantly accounted for 27% of unique variance in reading achievement and 39% of unique variance in math achievement.

Table 3: Results from linear regressions for Aim 2 assessing relationships among baseline
executive performance, executive behavior, and reading and math achievement.

	Parameter	В	R^2	F
Baseline Reading	BRIEF GEC	0.31*	0.21*	4.61*
	+ Executive Performance	0.27		
Baseline Math	BRIEF GEC	0.38*	0.31*	7.54*
	+ Executive Performance	0.36		

Note: * indicates statistically significant finding.

Aim 3: To determine whether executive performance predicts reading and math achievement beyond executive behavior in children with SCD. Results from the linear regressions for Aim 3 are presented in Table 4. The baseline BRIEF GEC significantly accounted for 17% of the variance in baseline Reading Achievement and 25% of the variance in baseline Math Achievement. When added to the model, the baseline Executive Performance Composite did not account for additional, significant variance in baseline Reading or Math Achievement. Neither the BRIEF GEC nor the Executive Performance Composite were significant predictors of follow-up Reading or Math Achievement.

Secondary regression analyses (not shown) were used to examine the reverse; that is, whether executive behavior predicts reading and math achievement above and beyond executive performance. When entered in the first step, the baseline Executive Performance Composite significantly predicted 11% of the variance in baseline Reading Achievement and 18% of the variance in baseline Math Achievement. When entered in the second step of the model, the baseline BRIEF GEC significantly accounted for 21% of the variance in baseline Reading Achievement and 31% of the variance in baseline Math Achievement in baseline Math Achievement and beyond executive performance. Consistent with primary analyses, neither the BRIEF GEC nor the Executive Performance Composite were significant predictors of follow-up Reading or Math Achievement.

 Table 4: Results from linear regressions for Aim 3 assessing relationships among executive performance, executive behavior, and reading and math achievement.

Parameter $B \qquad \Delta R^2 \qquad \Delta F$	
---	--

Baseline Reading	BRIEF GEC	0.31*	0.17*	7.58*
	Executive Performance	0.27	0.04	1.53
Baseline Math	BRIEF GEC	0.38*	0.25*	11.45*
	Executive Performance	0.36	0.06	2.98
Follow-up Reading	BRIEF GEC	-0.05	0.00	0.00
	Executive Performance	0.16	0.02	0.46
Follow-up Math	BRIEF GEC	0.11	0.05	1.11
	Executive Performance	0.45	0.11	2.57

Note: * *indicates statistically significant finding.*

Aim 4: To determine whether executive performance, executive behavior, and academic achievement remain stable over time in children with SCD. Table 5 displays sample size, means, and standard deviations of scores that were available for given tests at both baseline and follow-up, as well as results of repeated measures t-tests. Due to fatigue and time constraints, some children did not complete all tests at both timepoints, leading to variations in sample size. With two exceptions, results from repeated measures t-tests showed that scores from tests of executive performance and executive behavior remained stable over approximately 2 years. The exceptions were CPT-2 Response Variability (on which participants performed significantly better at follow-up) and Letter-Word Identification (on which participants performed significantly worse at follow-up). Pearson correlations indicated that changes in executive performance and executive behavior were not significantly related to baseline age or IQ.

Secondary regression analyses were performed to determine whether baseline executive performance and executive behavior predicted the change in reading and math achievement.

When entered simultaneously into the models, Executive Performance Composite and baseline BRIEF GEC did not predict the change in reading or math achievement. Additionally, changes in reading and math achievement were not related to other baseline variables of interest, including Trails 4 vs 5 Contrast, BRIEF MI, IQ, age, grade retention, and use of special education.

	п	Baseline	Follow-up	t	d
		M (SD)	M (SD)		
Executive Performance	19	46.5 (7.4)	47.9 (6.4)	1.27	0.20
Response Variability	33	42.5 (9.7)	48.6 (10.8)	3.31*	0.59
Category Switching Accuracy	21	52.1 (10.4)	55.9 (10.4)	1.62	0.37
Inhibition vs Color Naming	38	47.1 (9.9)	47.6 (6.2)	0.25	0.06
Trails 4 vs 5	38	41.9 (12.6)	45.7 (9.7)	1.84	0.34
BRIEF GEC	38	46.1 (10.9)	47.3 (10.3)	0.74	0.11
BRI	38	48.3 (11.2)	50.9 (8.5)	1.75	0.26
MI	38	44.5 (11.2)	47.7 (7.3)	2.05	0.34
Reading Achievement	34	46.7 (7.2)	44.9 (7.0)	-2.45	-0.25
Letter-Word Identification	34	48.9 (8.6)	46.1 (8.9)	-2.77*	-0.32
Reading Fluency	34	44.4 (7.4)	43.7 (8.0)	-0.68	-0.09
Math Achievement	35	43.5 (8.9)	42.0 (9.8)	-1.52	-0.17
Calculations	35	45.9 (10.7)	44.3 (10.1)	-1.34	-0.15
Math Fluency	35	41.1 (8.7)	39.7 (10.7)	-1.19	-0.14

Table 5: Results from repeated measures t-tests comparing baseline and follow-up executive performance, executive behavior, and academic achievement.

Note: Scores are reported as T-scores, with mean = 50, SD = 10; * indicates statistically significant finding (i.e., either p < .01 or p < .05 with medium or large effect size.)

4. Discussion

Previous studies have demonstrated that cognition and academic achievement are compromised in children with SCD (Berkelhammer et al., 2007; Kral et al., 2001), but there have been few investigations of associations between cognition and academic achievement in children with SCD, and those that exist typically examined cognition at only the broadest level (i.e., general intellectual ability; Schatz et al., 2004; Swift et al., 1989; Wang et al., 2001). Executive abilities represent specific aspects of cognition that play important roles in academic outcomes in typically-developing children (Altemeier et al., 2008; Espy et al., 2004), and a growing body of research has revealed impaired executive abilities in children with SCD (Brandling-Bennett et al., 2003; Christ et al., 2007; Hijmans et al., 2011). However, the relationship between executive abilities and academic achievement has not been examined in this population of children.

The present study was conducted to fill this significant gap in the SCD literature through examination of relationships between executive abilities and academic achievement. Aim 1 of our study was designed to shed light on whether executive performance (based on scores from tasks assessing executive abilities in the laboratory) was associated with executive behavior (based on parent ratings of executive abilities in daily life from the BRIEF) in children with SCD. In Aim 2 we determined whether executive performance and behavior, in combination, were associated with academic achievement (based on scores from the WJ-III) in these children. In Aim 3 we evaluated whether executive performance was related to academic achievement after accounting for the relationship between executive behavior and academic achievement. In addition, given limited longitudinal studies in children with SCD, we evaluated whether earlier executive behavior and performance were predictors of later academic achievement. Finally, in

Aim 4, we determined whether executive performance, executive behavior, and academic achievement remained stable over time in children with SCD.

Turning first to Aim 1, our findings supported the hypothesis that executive behavior is significantly associated with executive performance in children with SCD. This result provided validation that, at a global level, parent ratings of executive abilities are related to scores from traditional, performance-based measures of executive abilities in children with SCD. As such, it is possible that relatively brief parent ratings, which are easily obtained during clinic visits, may be of utility in screening for broad impairment in executive abilities. Secondary analyses indicated that the MI (i.e. Metacognition Index) of the BRIEF may be especially useful in this regard. This was not, however, the case for the BRI (i.e. Behavior Regulation Index) of the BRIEF, which contains different items from the MI and comprises a smaller proportion of items on the BRIEF. While the BRI scales (i.e. Inhibit, Shift, and Emotional Control) are thought to assess the child's ability to appropriately modulate their emotions and behavior, the MI scales (i.e. Initiate, Working Memory, Plan/Organize, Organization of Materials, and Monitor) are thought to assess the child's ability to cognitively self-manage performance (Gioia et al., 2000).

This finding of stronger associations between executive performance and the BRIEF MI (relative to the BRI) appears consistent with existing literature. The present author's examination of the studies included by Toplak and colleagues (2013) in their meta-analysis revealed that most of the significant correlations reported between BRIEF ratings and scores on performance-based tasks included the MI or its subscales (see Anderson, V.A., Anderson, P., et al., 2002; Bodnar et al., 2008; Brown et al., 2008; Mangeot et al., 2002; McAuley et al., 2010; Parrish et al., 2007; Toplak et al., 2008). Of note, 11 out of 13 of these studies utilized clinical samples from a

variety of pediatric populations (e.g. spina bifida, traumatic brain injury, epilepsy) that may experience comparable levels of functional impairment as the sickle cell population. Toplak and colleagues (2013) proposed that measures of executive performance and executive behavior rarely correlate because they capture different cognitive levels of analysis. While performancebased measures are thought to assess cognitive efficiency within an optimized setting, behavioral ratings measure perceived success with goal pursuit in a real-world setting. Our data and existing literature suggest that for clinical populations, the MI is relatively better at approximating cognitive efficiency, the same level of cognitive analysis thought to be assessed by performancebased tasks of executive abilities.

Secondary analyses for Aim 1 also indicated that the relationship between executive behavior and performance was largely driven by the Trails 4 vs. 5 Contrast Scores. In fact, this measure of cognitive flexibility and set shifting was the only individual measure of executive performance which related to executive behavior. This finding is also consistent with the meta-analysis which showed that only 19% of all reported correlations between BRIEF ratings and scores on performance-based tasks assessing executive abilities were statistically significant in typicallydeveloping children and adolescents (Toplak et al., 2013). It is unclear why the Trails 4 vs 5 Contrast Score, but not scores from other executive measures that purport to capture flexibility (e.g., D-KEFS Category Switching Accuracy), was associated with executive behavior. Various versions of the Trail Making Test have been noted for their sensitivity to brain dysfunction but criticized for their limited specificity and sensitivity to mild executive impairment. The D-KEFS version of the Trail Making Test was designed with these criticisms in mind. By incorporating greater visual scanning demands, as well as including stimuli which make it more challenging to shift attention, sensitivity to mild executive impairment was increased, even in individuals with brain dysfunction who had relatively high premorbid IQ (Delis, Kaplan, & Kramer, 2001). Therefore, it is possible that the executive behavior reported by parents on the BRIEF (which was lower than the normative sample but still in the average range) was only associated with performance on the D-KEFS Trail Making Test because it was more sensitive to mild executive behavior difficulties than the other measures.

Turning to Aim 2, we found that executive performance and behavior, in combination, were significantly associated with both reading and math achievement in children with SCD. These results are consistent with a larger study of healthy, developmentally heterogenous children (Ten Eycke & Dewey, 2016) and offer support for the notion that the skills assessed by our performance-based measures and behavioral ratings are both related to successful execution of academic skills. As suggested by Ten Eycke and Dewey (2016), who referenced the executive abilities framework proposed by Toplak et al. (2013), this finding is not surprising when considering the importance of efficient, cognitive performance (algorithmic level, assessed by performance-based tasks) as well as regulated, goal-oriented behavior (reflective level, assessed by ratings of executive behavior) to academic success.

For Aim 3 we examined the contributions of executive performance and executive behavior to academic achievement using a hierarchical approach. Results showed that concurrent executive behavior was related to both reading and math achievement. Concurrent executive performance, however, was not related to academic achievement (neither reading nor math) after accounting for the contributions of concurrent executive behavior. Furthermore, secondary analyses indicated that concurrent executive behavior continued to predict unique variance in reading and math achievement above and beyond executive performance. These findings indicate that

ratings from brief measures of executive behavior may be indicative of difficulties in academic achievement, and that supplementing these ratings with scores from measures of executive performance may provide us with redundant information regarding academic achievement.

This should not, however, be interpreted as a recommendation to discard measures of executive performance from pediatric SCD care, as this study does not include an evaluation of how specific types of scores or combinations of scores from performance-based tasks may differentially predict academic achievement. For example, Best and colleagues (2011) observed different developmental patterns in children's completion time and accuracy on performancebased measures of executive abilities, including evidence of a trade-off between increasing accuracy and slower task completion time with increasing age. The variables selected from our executive performance tasks reflect a combination of speed and accuracy that cannot easily be teased apart. It is possible that "pure" speed variables may better relate to performance on academic fluency tasks, while "pure" accuracy variables may better relate to performance on untimed academic tasks. Further, executive performance has been shown to relate to other important functional outcomes related to school readiness, such as social skills, in children with SCD (Hensler et al., 2013). Existing guidelines for neuropsychological care of children with SCD recommend that developmental monitoring of neuropsychological functioning include brief measures of executive performance as well as behavior rating scales, such as the BRIEF (Daly et al., 2011). Based on our data, the D-KEFS Trail Making Test appears worth considering as an option for a brief measure of executive performance. That said, neither executive performance nor behavior were predictors of later (at 2-year follow-up) academic achievement. Thus, although our measure of executive behavior provided us with unique information regarding concurrent academic achievement in children with SCD, it was not of use in predicting future

academic achievement or the change over time in academic achievement. As such, findings from the BRIEF may be of utility as a screener for difficulties in present- but not future-day academic achievement.

Finally, in relation to Aim 4 we found that executive behavior, executive performance, and academic achievement remained stable over a 2-year period. With two exceptions (Response Variability from the CPT-2 and Letter-Word Identification from the WJ-III), this was the case not only when examining composite measures but also individual indices of executive behavior, individual scores from tasks assessing executive performance, and individual scores from academic achievement subtests. Longitudinal studies of typically developing children demonstrate a slowed growth trajectory of executive abilities during middle childhood and adolescence, particularly with regard to inhibitory control and shifting (Romine & Reynolds, 2005). The stability of executive behavior and executive performance observed in our sample may reflect a more extreme slowing of this developmental trajectory. Of particular interest, scores for math achievement also remained stable over time, which contradicts findings by Wang et al. (2001) who identified a yearly decrease of almost 1 standard point in math, but not reading, in children with SCD and normal-appearing MRI. It should be kept in mind that their sample included 350 children who were tested an average of 2.9 times. Because our sample was substantially smaller and children were assessed only twice, it is possible that our study lacked statistical power to detect findings consistent with those of Wang and colleagues.

It is important to acknowledge additional limitations to our study. Our study design was retrospective rather than prospective, as previously collected data from an extensive cognitive and behavioral test battery were examined. It is possible that a prospective design using clinical and experimental measures of greater sensitivity and specificity to mild executive difficulties would have yielded different results. For example, the battery did not include a direct and challenging task assessing working memory, which has been implicated in investigations of cognitive impairment in children with SCD (Berkelhammer et al., 2007) and studies of academic achievement in typically-developing children (Bull & Scerif, 2001; Siegel & Ryan, 1989). In addition, it would be of interest to collect data using additional measures of executive behavior (e.g., self or teacher report) and academic achievement (e.g., school records), which may better reflect daily functioning. Use of performance-based tasks that better simulate complex, realworld executive functioning may also provide useful insight into how a child might perform when faced with a novel task in a classroom or other setting. For example, Berg and colleagues (2012) compared executive performance between 22 children with SCD and mixed stroke status (silent = 5, overt = 4, none = 13) and 22 healthy controls using the Children's Kitchen Task Assessment (CKTA; Rocke et al., 2008), which requires children to make play dough by following a recipe and receiving structured cueing from the examiner. Although children with SCD received the same total number of cues to complete the task as healthy children, they received lower scores for organization, initiation, and knowledge of completion from blinded raters. Such tests are rarely developed and validated with clinical samples in mind, but results could theoretically provide unique information about how a child performs with more complex demands. Finally, given the number of analyses we performed, we increased the rigor of our criteria for statistical significance. This, combined with our relatively small sample size (although larger than many studies of children with SCD), limited statistical power.

Overall, our findings provide preliminary evidence of an association between executive abilities (assessed with measures of executive performance and behavior) and academic achievement in children with SCD. Parent ratings of executive behavior corresponded with academic achievement in a way that was unique from scores on executive performance tasks, indicating that these measures should not be overlooked in the context of pediatric SCD care as screening or monitoring tools. In addition, our findings indicate that executive behavior and performance are associated with concurrent, but not future, academic achievement. While our sample demonstrated largely consistent performance across time on measures of executive abilities and academic achievement, it remains important to weigh evidence of declines in academic achievement observed elsewhere (Wang et al., 2001). Thus, additional research is clearly needed to identify predictors of future academic outcomes in children with SCD, including not only academic achievement but also academic attainment, so that interventions may be implemented as early as possible.

References

- Alexander, K. L., Entwisle, D. R., & Dauber, S. L. (1993). First grade classroom behavior: Its short-and long-term consequences for school performance. *Child Development*, 64, 801– 814.
- Altemeier, L., Jones, J., Abbott, R. D., & Berninger, V. W. (2006). Executive functions in becoming writing readers and reading writers: Note taking and report writing in third and fifth graders. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, 29(1), 161-173.
- Altemeier, L. E., Abbott, R. D., & Berninger, V. W. (2008). Executive functions for reading and writing in typical literacy development and dyslexia. Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology, 30(5), 588-606.
- Anderson, P. (2002). Assessment and development of executive function (EF) during childhood. *Child Neuropsychology*, 8(2), 71-82
- Anderson, V.A., Anderson, P., Northam, E., Jacobs, R., & Mikiewicz, O. (2002). Relationships between cognitive and behavioral measures of executive function in children with brain disease. *Child Neuropsychology*, 8, 231–240.
- Armstrong, F.D. (2006). Neurodevelopment and chronic illness: Mechanisms of disease and treatment. *Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews*, 12(3), 168–173.
- Armstrong, F. D., Thompson, R. J., Wang, W., Zimmerman, R., Pegelow, C. H., Miller, S., ... Vass, K. (1996). Cognitive functioning and brain magnetic resonance imaging in children with sickle cell disease. Neuropsychology Committee of the Cooperative Study of Sickle Cell Disease. *Pediatrics*, 97, 864–870.
- Ashkenazi, S., Black, J. M., Abrams, D. A., Joeft, F., & Menon, V. (2013). Neurobiological underpinnings of math and reading learning disabilities. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 46(6), 549-569.
- Ashley-Koch, A., Yang, Q., & Olney, R. S. (2000). Sickle Hemoglobin (*Hb S*) Allele and Sickle Cell Disease: A HuGE Review. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 151(9), 839-845.
- Austin, S., Cohen, H., & Loseff, N. (2007). Haematology and neurology. *Journal of Neurosurgery and Psychiatry*, 78(4), 334–341
- Barragan, A. Q., Doran, J. W., Newell, S. B., Morrison, E. M., Barbetti, V., & Robbins, B. D. (2002). Relationships between problem behaviors and academic achievement in adolescents: The unique role of attention problems. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioral*

Disorders, 10, 233–240

- Berg, C., Edwards, D.F., & King, A. (2012). Executive function performance on the children's kitchen task assessment with children with sickle cell disease and matched controls. *Child Neuropsychology*, 18(5), 432-448.
- Berkelhammer, L. D., Williamson, A. L., Sanford, S. D., Dirksen, C. L., Sharp, W. G., Margulies, A. S., & Prengler, R. A. (2007). Neurocognitive sequelae of pediatric sickle cell disease: a review of the literature. *Child Neuropsychology*, 13(2), 120–131.
- Best, J. R. & Miller, P. H. (2010). A developmental perspective on executive function. *Child Development*, *81*, 1641-1660.
- Best, J. R., Miller, P. H., & Naglieri, J. A. (2011). Relations between executive function and academic achievement in a large representative national sample. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 21, 327-336.
- Bodnar, L.E., Prahme, M.C., Cutting, L.E., Denckla, M.B., & Mahone, E.M. (2007). Construct validity of parent ratings of inhibitory control. *Child Neuropsychology*, *13*, 345–362.
- Bou-Maroun, L. M., Meta, F., Hanba, C. J., Campbell, A. D., & Yanik, G. A. (2017). An analysis of inpatient pediatric sickle cell disease: Incidence, costs, and outcomes.
 Pediatric Blood & Cancer, epub: 00:e26758. https://doi.org/10.1002/pbc.26758
- Brandling-Bennett, E. M., White, D. A., Armstrong, M. M., Christ, S. E., & DeBaun, M. (2003).
 Patterns of verbal long-term and working memory performance reveal deficits in strategic processing in children with frontal infarcts related to sickle cell disease.
 Developmental Neuropsychology, 24(1), 423–434.
- Brousseau, D. C., Panepinto, J. A., Nimmer, M., Hoffmann R. G. (2010). The number of people with sickle-cell disease in the United States: National and state estimates. *American Journal of Hematology*, *85*, 77-78.
- Brown, R. T., Armstrong, D. F., & Eckman, J. R. (1993). Neurocognitive aspects of pediatric sickle cell disease. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, *26*(1), 33–45.
- Brown, R. T., Davis, P. C., Lambert, R., Hsu, L., Hopkins, K., & Eckman, J. (2000). Neurocognitive functioning and magnetic resonance imaging in children with sickle cell disease. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 25, 503–513.
- Brown, T.M., Ris, M.D., Beebe, D., Ammerman, R.T., Oppenheimer, S.G., Yeates, K.O., & Enrile, B.G. (2008). Factors of biological risk and reserve associated with executive behaviors in children and adolescents with spina bifida myelomeningocele. *Child*

Neuropsychology, 14, 118–134.

- Buchanan, G. R., DeBaun, M. R., Quinn, C. T., & Steinberg, M. H. (2004). Sickle cell disease. *Hematology, the American Society of Hematology Education Program, 1*, 35–47.
- Bull, R. & Scerif, G. (2001). Executive functioning as a predictor of children's mathematics ability: Inhibition, switching, and working memory. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, 19, 273-293.
- Christ, S. E., Moinuddin, A., McKinstry, R. C., DeBaun, M., & White, D. A. (2007). Inhibitory control in children with frontal infarcts related to sickle cell disease. *Child Neuropsychology*, 13, 132-141.
- Christopher, M. E., Miyake, A., Keenan, J. M., Pennington, B., DeFries, J. C., Wadsworth, S. J.,
 ... Olson, R. K. (2012). Predicting word reading and comprehension with executive function and speed measures across development: A latent variable analysis. *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 141(3), 470-488.
- Claessens, A., & Dowsett, C. (2014). Growth and change in attention problems, disruptive behavior, and achievement from kindergarten to fifth grade. *Psychological Science*, *25*(12), 2241-2251.
- Clark, C. A. C., Pritchard, V. E., and Woodward, L. J. (2010). Preschool executive functioning abilities predict early mathematics achievement. *Developmental Psychology*, 46, 1176– 1191
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences* (rev. ed.). New York: Academic Press.
- Cohen, M. J., Branch, W. B., McKie, V. C., & Adams, R. J. (1994). Neuropsychological impairment in children with sickle cell anemia and cerebrovascular accidents. *Clinical Pediatrics*, 33, 517–524
- Daly, B., Kral, M. C., & Tarazi, R. A. (2011). The role of neuropsychological evaluation in pediatric sickle cell disease. *The Clinical Neuropsychologist*, *25*(6), 903–925
- Davis, H., Moore, R. M., & Gergen, P. J. (1997). Cost of hospitalizations associated with sickle cell disease in the United States. *Public Health Reports*, *112*(1), 40-43.
- Davoudzadeh, P., McTernan, M. L., & Grimm, K. J. (2015). Early school readiness predictors of grade retention from kindergarten through eighth grade: A multilevel discrete-time survival analysis approach. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 32, 183-192.
- deJong, P. F. (1998). Working memory deficits of reading disabled children. Journal of

Experimental Child Psychology, 70, 75-96.

- Dekker, M. C., Ziermans, T. B., Spruijt, A. M., & Swaab, H. (2017). Cognitive, parent and teaching rating measures of executive functioning: Shared and unique influences on school achievement. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8(48), 1-13, doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00048.
- Delis, D. C., Kaplan, E., & Kramer, J. H. (2001). Delis-Kaplan Executive Function System: Examiner's Manual. San Antonio, TX: The Psychological Corporation.
- Diamond, A. (2013). Executive functions. Annual Review of Psychology, 64, 135-168.
- Dyson, S. M., Abuateya, H., Atkin, K., Culley, L., Dyson, S. E., & Rowley, D. (2010). Reported school experiences of young people living with sickle cell disorder in England. *British Educational Research Journal*, 36(1), 125–142.
- Epping, A. S., Myrvik, M. P., Newby, R. F., Panepinto, J. A., Brandow, A. M., & Scott, J. P. (2013). Academic attainment findings in children with sickle cell disease. *Journal of School Health*, 83(8), 548-553.
- Espy, K. A., McDiarmid, M. D., Cwik, M. F., Stalets, M. M., Hamby, A., & Senn, T. E. (2004). The contribution of executive functions to emergent mathematic skills in preschool children. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, 26(1), 465-486.
- Fosdal, M. B. (2015). Perception of pain among pediatric patients with sickle cell pain crisis. Journal of *Pediatric Oncology Nursing*, 32(1), 5-20.
- Fowler, M. G., Johnson, M. P., Atkinson, S. S. (1985). School achievement and absence in children with chronic health conditions. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, *106*(4), 683–687.
- Fowler, M. G., Whitt, J. K, Lallinger, R. R., Nash, K. B., Atkinson, S. S., Wells, R. J., & McMillan C. (1988). Neuropsychologic and academic functioning of children with sickle cell anemia. *Journal of Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics*, 9(4), 213–220.
- Frenette, P. S., & Atweh, G. F. (2007). Sickle cell disease: old discoveries, new concepts, and future promise. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *117*(4), 850.
- Friedman, N. P., Miyake, A., Corley, R. P., Young, S. E., DeFries, J. C., & Hewitt, J. K. (2006). Not all executive functions are related to intelligence. *Psychological Science*, 17(2), 172-179.
- Gerber, P. (2012). The impact of learning disabilities on adulthood: A review of the evidencedbased literature for research and practice in adult education. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 45(1), 31-46.

- Gioia, G. A., Isquith, P. K., Guy, S. C., & Kenworthy, L. (2000). Behavior Rating Inventory of Executive Function: Professional Manual. Odessa, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources.
- Grueneich, R., Ris, M. D., Ball, W., Kalinyak, K. A., Noll, R., Vannatta, K., & Wells, R. (2004).
 Relationship of structural magnetic resonance imaging, magnetic resonance perfusion, and other disease factors to neuropsychological outcome in sickle cell disease. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 29(2), 83-92.
- Haas, S. A. (2006). Health selection and the process of social stratification: the effect of childhood health on socioeconomic attainment. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 47(4), 339–354.
- Haas, S. A., & Fosse NE. (2008). Health and the educational attainment of adolescents: evidence from the NLSY97. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior, 49*(2), 178–192.
- Hassell, K. L. (2010). Population Estimates of Sickle Cell Disease in the U.S. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *38*(4, Supplement), S512–S521.
- Hensler, M., Wolfe, K., Lebensburger, J., Nieman, J., Barnes, M., Nolan, W., ... Madan-Swain,
 A. (2013). Social skills and executive function among youth with sickle cell disease: A preliminary investigation. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 39(5), 493–500
- Heron, M. (2007). Deaths: leading causes for 2004. *National Vital Statistics Reports*, 56(5), 1–96.
- Hijmans, C. T., Fijnvandraat, K., Grootenhuis, M. A., Van Geloven, N., Heijboer, H., Peters, M.,
 & Oosterlaan, J. (2011). Neurocognitive deficits in children with sickle cell disease: A comprehensive profile. *Pediatric Blood & Cancer*, 56(5), 783–788.
- Hijmans, C. T., Grootenhuis, M. A., Oosterlaan, J., Heijboer, H., Peters, M., & Fijnvandraat, K.
 (2011). Neurocognitive deficits in children with sickle cell disease are associated with the severity of anemia. *Pediatric Blood & Cancer*, 57(2), 297–302.
- Hinshaw, S. P. (1992). Externalizing behavior problems and academic underachievement in childhood and adolescence: Causal relationships and underlying mechanisms. *Psychological Bulletin*, 111, 127–15
- Hogan, A. M., Pitten Cate, I. M., Vargha-Khadem, F., Prengler, M., & Kirkham, F. J. (2006).
 Physiological correlates of intellectual function in children with sickle cell disease:
 hypoxaemia, hyperaemia and brain infarction. *Developmental Science*, 9(4), 379–387.

Hollocks, M. J., Kok, T. B., Kirkham, F. J., Gavlak, J., Inusa, B. P., DeBaun, M. R., & De Haan,

M. (2012). Nocturnal oxygen desaturation and disordered sleep as a potential factor in executive dysfunction in sickle cell anemia. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, *18*(1), 168–173.

- Howse, R. B., Lange, G., Farran, D. C., & Boyles, C. D. (2003). Motivation and self-regulation as predictors of achievement in economically disadvantaged young children. *Journal of Experimental Education*, 71, 151–174.
- Huizinga, M., Dolan, C., & van der Molen, M. W. (2006). Age-related change in executive function: Developmental trends and a latent variable analysis. *Neuropsychologia*, 44, 2017-2036.
- Jones, K. E., Jacobson, L. A., & Tarazi, R. A. (2017). The Kennedy Krieger Independence Scales-Sickle Cell Disease: Executive components of transition readiness. *Rehabilitation Psychology*, 62(3), 249-257.
- King, A. A., Strouse, J. J., Rodeghier, M. J., Compas, B. E., Casella, J. F., McKinstry, R. C., ... DeBaun, M. R. (2014). Parent education and biologic factors influence on cognition in sickle cell anemia. *American Journal of Hematology*, 89, 162–167.
- Köbel, M., Kawadler, J., Stotesbury, H., Balfour, P., & Kirkham, F.J. (2017). Children with sickle cell disease and sleep-disordered breathing: impact on executive function and processing speed. *Sleep Medicine*, 40, Supplement 1, e166.
- Konold, T. R., & Pianta, R. C. (2005). Empirically-derived, person-oriented patterns of school readiness in typically-developing children: Description and prediction to first-grade achievement. *Applied Developmental Science*, 9, 174–187.
- Kowaleski-Jones & Duncan, 1998: Kowaleski-Jones, L., & Duncan, G. J. (1999). The structure of achievement and behavior across middle childhood. *Child Development*, *4*, 930–943.
- Kral, M. C., & Brown, R. T. (2004). Transcranial doppler ultrasonography and executive dysfunction inn children with sickle cell disease. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 29(3), 185-195.
- Kral, M. C., Brown, R. T., Nietert, P. J., Abboud, M. R., Jackson, S. M., & Hynd, G. W. (2003). Transcranial Doppler ultrasonography and neurocognitive functioning in children with sickle cell disease. *Pediatrics*, 112(2), 324–331.
- Kral, M. C., Brown, R. T., & Hynd, G. W. (2001). Neuropsychological aspects of pediatric sickle cell disease. *Neuropsychology Review*, 11(4), 179–196.
- La Paro, K. M., & Pianta, R. C. (2000). Predicting children's competence in the early school

years. A meta-analytic review. Review of Educational Research, 70, 443-484.

- Ladd, G. W., Birch, S. H., & Buhs, E. S. (1999). Children's social and scholastic lives in kindergarten: Related spheres of influence? *Child Development*, 70, 1373–1400.
- Ladd, R. J., Valrie, C. R., & Walcott, C. M. (2014). Risk and resilience factors for grade retention in youth with sickle cell disease. *Pediatric Blood & Cancer*, *61*(7), 1252–1256.
- Lawson, G. M. & Farah, M. J. (2017). Executive function as a mediator between SES and academic achievement throughout childhood. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 41(1), 94-104.
- Locascio, G., Mahone, E. M., Eason, S. H., & Cutting, L. E. (2010). Executive dysfunction among children with reading comprehension deficits. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 43(5), 441-454.
- Mangeot, S., Armstrong, K., Colvin, A.N., Yeates, K.O., & Taylor, H.G. (2002). Long-term executive function deficits in children with traumatic brain injuries: Assessment using the Behavior Rating Inventory of Executive Function (BRIEF). *Child Neuropsychology*, 8, 271–284.
- Margari, L., Buttiglione, M., Craig, F., Cristella, A., de Giambattista, C., Matera, E., ... Simone,
 M. (2013). Neuropsycholopathological comorbidities in learning disorders. *BMC Neurology*, 13 (198).
- Mayes, S. D., Calhoun, S. L., Bixler, E. O., & Zimmerman, D. N. (2009). IQ and neuropsychological predictors of academic achievement. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 19, 238-241.
- McAuley, T., Chen, S., Goos, L., Schachar, R., & Crosbie, J. (2010). Is the behavior rating inventory of executive function more strongly associated with measures of impairment or executive function? *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 16, 495– 505.
- McClelland, M., Morrison, F. J., & Holmes, D. L. (2000). Children at risk for early academic problems: The role of learning-related social skills. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 15, 307–329.
- McGrew, K. S., & Flanagan, D. P. (1998). *The intelligence test desk reference (ITDR)*. *Gf-Gc cross-battery assessment*. Boston: Allyn and Bacon
- McLean, J. F., & Hitch, G. J. (1999). Working memory impairments in children with specific arithmetic learning difficulties. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 74, 240-260.

- Moser, F. G., Miller, S. T, Bello, J. A., Pegelow, C. H., Zimmerman, R. A., Wang, W. C., ... Kinney, T.R. (1996). The spectrum of brain MR abnormalities in sickle-cell disease: A report from the Cooperative Study of Sickle Cell Disease. *American Journal of Neuroradiology*, 17(5), 965–972.
- Mousa, S. A., Qari, M. H. (2010). Diagnosis and management of sickle cell disorders. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, *663*, 291–307.
- National Sickle Cell Anemia Control Act. Washington, DC: US Congress, 1972. (Public Law no. 92-294, 86 Statute 138 (May 16, 1972)).
- Nettles, A. L. (1994). Scholastic performance of children with sickle cell disease. *Journal of Health and Social Policy*, *5*, 123-140.
- Newborn Screening Committee, Council of Regional Networks for Genetic Services (CORN). National Newborn Screening Report—1993. Atlanta, GA: Council of Regional Networks for Genetic Services, 1998.
- Normandeau, S., & Guay, F. (1998). Preschool behavior and first-grade achievement: The mediational role of cognitive self-control. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 90, 111–121.
- Ogunfowora, O. B., Olanrewaju, D. M., & Akenzua, G. I. (2005). A comparative study of academic achievement of children with sickle cell anemia and their healthy siblings. *Journal of the National Medical Association*, 97(3), 405.
- Ohene-Frempong, K., Weiner, S. J., Sleeper, L. A., Miller, S. T., Embury, S., Moohr, J. W., ...& the Cooperative Study of Sickle Cell Disease. (1998). Cerebrovascular accidents in sickle cell disease: Rates and risk factors. *Blood*, 91, 288–294.
- Olson, S. L., Sameroff, A. J., Kerr, D. C. R., Lopez, N. L., & Wellman, H. M. (2005). Developmental foundations of externalizing problems in young children: The role of effortful control. *Development and Psychopathology*, 17, 25–45.
- Parrish, J., Geary, E., Jones, J., Seth, R., Hermann, B., & Seidenberg, M. (2007). Executive functioning in childhood epilepsy: Parent-report and cognitive assessment. *Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology*, 49, 412–416.
- Pegelow, C. H., Macklin, E. A., Moser, F. G., Wang, W. C., Bello, J. A., Miller, S. T., ... Kinney, T. R. (2002). Longitudinal changes in brain magnetic resonance imaging findings in children with sickle cell disease. *Blood*, 99, 3014-3018.
- Peterson, C. C., Palermo, T. M., Swift, E., Beebe, A., & Drotar, D. (2005). Assessment of

psycho-educational needs in a clinical sample of children with sickle cell disease. *Children's Health Care*, *34*(2), 133-148.

- Piel, F. B., Hay, S. I., Gupta, S., Weatherall, D. J., & Williams, T. N. (2013). Global burden of sickle cell anaemia in children under five, 2010–2050: modelling based on demographics, excess mortality, and interventions. *PLoS Med*, 10(7), e1001484.
- Platt, O. S., Brambilla, D. J., Rosse, W. F., Milner, P. D., Castro, W., Steinberg, M. H., & Klug,
 P. P. (1994). Mortality in sickle cell disease: Life expectancy and risk factors for early death. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *330*, 1639–1644.
- Prengler, M., Pavlakis, S. G., Prohovnik, I., & Adams, R. J. (2002). Sickle cell disease: The neurological complications. *Annals of Neurology*, 51(5), 543–552.
- Pungello, E. P., Kuperschmidt, J. B., Burchinal, M. R., & Patterson, C. (1996). Environmental risk factors and children's achievement from middle childhood to adolescence. *Developmental Psychology*, 32, 755–767.
- Radcliffe, J., Barakat, L. P., & Boyd, R. C. (2006). Family systems issues in pediatric sickle cell disease. In: Brown R, ed. Comprehensive Handbook of Childhood Cancer and Sickle Cell Disease: A Biopsychosocial Approach (496-513). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Raskind, M. H., Goldberg, R. J., Higgins, E. L., & Herman, K. L. (1999). Patterns of change and predictors of success in individuals with learning disabilities: Results from a twenty-year longitudinal study. *Learning Disabilities Research & Practice*, 14(1), 35-49.
- Rennie, K. M., & Panepinto, J. A. (2008). Sickle Cell Disease. In C. L. Castillo (Ed.), Children with Complex Medical Issues in Schools: Neuropsychological Descriptions and Interventions (367-378). New York: Springer Publishing Company.
- Romine, C. B. & Reynolds, C. R. (2005). A model of the development of frontal lobe functioning: Findings from a meta-analysis. *Applied Neuropsychology*, 12(4), 190-201.
- Samuels, W. E., Tournaki, N., Blackman, S., & Zilinski, C. (2016). Executive functioning predicts academic achievement in middle school: A four-year longitudinal study. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 109(5), 478-490.
- Schatz, J. (2004). Brief report: Academic attainment in children with sickle cell disease. *Journal* of Pediatric Psychology, 29(8), 627-633.
- Schatz, J., Brown, R. T., Pascual, J. M., Hsu, L., & DeBaun, M. R. (2001). Poor school and cognitive functioning with silent cerebral infarcts and sickle cell disease. *Neurology*, 56,

1109–1111

- Schatz, J., Finke, R. L., Kellett, J. M, & Kramer, J. H. (2002). Cognitive functioning in children with sickle cell disease: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 27(8), 739– 748.
- Schatz, J., & McClellan, C. B. (2006). Sickle cell disease as a neurodevelopmental disorder. *Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews*, *12*(3), 200–207.
- Schatz, J., Puffer, E. S., Sanchez, C., Stancil, M., & Roberts, C. W. (2009). Language processing deficits in sickle cell disease in young school-age children. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, 34, 122-136.
- Schatz, J., & Roberts, C. W. (2007). Neurobehavioral impact of sickle cell disease in early childhood. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, *13*, 933-943.
- Schlaggar, B. L., Brown, T. T., Lugar, H. M., Visscher, K. M., Miezin, F. M., & Petersen, S. E. (2002). Functional neuroanatomical differences between adults and school-age children in the processing of single words. *Science*, 296(5572), 1476-1479.
- Semrud-Clikeman, M. (2005). Neuropsychological aspects for evaluating learning disabilities. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 38(6), 563-568.
- Serjeant, G. R. (1993). The clinical features of sickle cell disease. *Ballière's Clinical Haematology*, *6*, 93–115.
- Shapiro, B. S., Dinges, D. F, Orne, E. C., Bauer, N., Reilly, L. B., Whitehouse, W.G., ... Orne, M. T. (1995). Home management of sickle cell-related pain in children and adolescents: natural history and impact on school attendance. *Pain.* 61(1),139-144.
- Sickle Cell Disease Guideline Panel. Sickle cell disease: screening, diagnosis, management, and counseling in newborns and infants. (Clinical Practice Guideline no. 6). Rockville, MD: Agency for Health Care Policy and Research, US Public Health Service, 1993. (AHCPR publication no. 930562).
- Siegel, L. S. & Ryan, E. B. (1989). The development of working memory in normally achieving and subtypes of learning disabled children. *Child Development*, *60*, 973-980.
- Smith, K. E., Patterson, C. A., Szabo, M. M., Tarazi, R. A., & Barakat, L. P. (2013). Predictors of academic achievement for school age children with sickle cell disease. *Advances in School Mental Health Promotion*, 6(1), 5-20.
- St Clair-Thompson, H., & Gathercole, S. E. (2006). Executive functions and achievements in school: Shifting, updating, inhibition, and working memory. *The Quarterly Journal of*

Experimental Psychology, 59(4), 745-759.

- Steen, R. G., Fineberg-Buchner, C., Hankins, G., Weiss, L., Prifitera, A., & Mulhern, R. K. (2005). Cognitive deficits in children with sickle cell disease. *Journal of Child Neurology*, 20(2), 102–107.
- Steen, R. G., Miles, M. A., Helton, K. J., Strawn, S., Wang, W., Xiong, X., & Mulhern, R. K. (2003). Cognitive impairment in children with hemoglobin SS sickle cell disease:
 Relationship to MR imaging findings and hematocrit. *American Journal of Neuroradiology*, 24(3), 382-389.
- Stevenson, H. W., & Newman, R. S. (1986). Long-term prediction of achievement and attitudes in mathematics and reading. *Child Development*, *57*, 646 659.
- Stuart, M. J., & Nagel, R. L. (2004). Sickle-cell disease. The Lancet, 364(9442), 1343–1360.
- Swanson, H. L. (1999). Reading comprehension and working memory in learning-disabled readers: Is the phonological loop more important than the executive system? *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 72, 1-31.
- Swift, A. V., Cohen, M. J., Hynd, G. W., Wisenbaker, J. M., McKie, K. M., Makari, G., & McKie, V. C. (1989). Neuropsychologic impairment in children with sickle cell anemia. *Pediatrics*, 84(6), 1077-1085.
- Tarazi, R. A., Grant, M. L., Ely, E., & Barakat, L. P. (2007). Neuropsychological functioning in preschool-age children with sickle cell disease: The role of illness-related and psychosocial factors. *Child Neuropsychology*, 13(2), 155-172.
- Ten Eycke, K. D., & Dewey, D. (2016). Parent-report and performance-based measures of executive function assess different constructs. *Child Neuropsychology*, *22*, 889–906.
- Toll, S. W., Van der Ven, S. H., Kroesbergen, E. H., & Van Luit, J. E. (2010). Executive functions as predictors of math learning disabilities. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 44(6), 521-532.
- Toplak, M.E., Bucciarelli, S., Jain, U., & Tannock, R. (2008). Executive functions: Performancebased measures and the Behavior Rating Inventory of Executive Function (BRIEF) in adolescents with attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). *Child Neuropsychology*, 15, 53–72.
- Toplak, M. E., West, R. F., & Stanovich, K. E. (2013). Practitioner review: Do performancebased measures and ratings of executive function assess the same construct? *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 54(2), 131-143.

- Trzesniewski, K. H., Moffitt, T. E., Caspi, A., Taylor, A., & Maughan, B. (2006). Revisiting the association between reading achievement and antisocial behavior: New evidence of an environmental explanation from a twin study. *Child Development*, 77, 72–88
- U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Science, National Center for Education Statistics. (2007). Dropout rates in the United States: 1995. Retrieved from http://nces .ed.gov/pubs/dp95/97473-6.asp
- Waber, D. P., Gerber, E. B., Turcios, V. Y., Wagner, E. R., and Forbes, P. W. (2006). Executive functions and performance on high-stakes testing in children from urban schools. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, 29, 459–477.
- Wang, W., Enos, L., Gallagher, D., Thompson, R., Guarini, L., Vichinsky, E., ... Armstrong, F. D. (2001). Neuropsychologic performance in school-aged children with sickle cell disease: A report from the Cooperative Study of Sickle Cell Disease. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 139(3), 391-397.
- Wasserman, A. L., Wilimas, J. A., Fairclough, D. L., Mulhern, R. K., & Wang, W. (1991). Subtle neuropsychological deficits in children with sickle cell disease. *American Journal of Pediatric Hematology/Oncology*, 13(1), 14–20
- Weatherall, D., Hofman, K., Rodgers, G., Ruffin, J., Hrynkow, S. (2005). A case for developing North-South partnerships for research in sickle cell disease. *Blood*, *105*(3), 921-923.
- Williamson, G. L., Appelbaum, M., & Epanchin, A. (1991). Longitudinal analyses of academic achievement. *Journal of Educational Measurement*, 28(1), 61-76.
- Yarboi, J., Compas, B. E., Brody, G. H., White, D., Patterson, J. R., Ziara, K., & King, A.
 (2015). Association of social-environmental factors with cognitive function in children with sickle cell disease. *Child Neuropsychology*, 23(3), 343-360.
- Yen, C., Konold, T. R., & McDermott, P. A. (2004). Does learning behavior augment cognitive ability as an indicator of academic achievement? *Journal of School Psychology*, 42, 157– 169.